
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Performance and 
Administration Cabinet 

Committee

Members of the Performance and Administration Cabinet Committee of Gravesham Borough 
Council are summoned to attend a meeting to be held at the Council Chamber, Civic Suite on 
Thursday, 23 September 2021 at 7.30 pm when the business specified in the following agenda is 
proposed to be transacted.

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies 

2. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 3 - 8)

3. To declare any interest Members may have in the items contained on this 
agenda. When declaring an interest Members should state what their 
interest is. 

4. To considered whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or those (if any) in Part B in public. 

5. Low Income Family Tracker (LIFT) Demonstration Presentation

6. Corporate Register of Partnerships - Extract for P&A Cabinet Committee (Pages 9 - 20)

7. Corporate Performance Report: Q1 2021-22  (Pages 21 - 32)

8. Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service Review (Pages 33 - 40)



9. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

10.Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Part B
Items likely to be considered in Private

None

Members

Cllr Narinderjit Singh Thandi (Chair)
Cllr Brian Francis (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Harold Craske
Dakota Dibben
Sarah Gow
Gary Harding
Leslie Hills
Samir Jassal
Elizabeth Mulheran
Gurbax Singh

Substitutes: To be notified



1

Performance and Administration Cabinet Committee

Wednesday, 9 June 2021 7.30 pm

Present:

Cllr Narinderjit Singh Thandi (Chair)
Cllr Brian Francis (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Harold Craske
Dakota Dibben
Gary Harding
Leslie Hills
Samir Jassal
Elizabeth Mulheran
Gurbax Singh
Gurdip Ram Bungar

Darren Everden Assistant Director (IT & Transformation)
Pat Knight Head of Revenue & Benefits
James Larkin Audit & Counter Fraud and Shared Service Manager
Gayle Jones Information Governance Manager
Lauren Wallis Committee Services Officer (Minutes)

1. Apologies 

An apology for absence was received from Cllr Sarah Gow. Cllr Gurdip Ram Bungar 
attended as her substitute.

2. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting 

The minutes of the meeting held on Thursday, 25 March 2021 were signed by the Chair.

3. Declarations of Interest 

No declarations of interest were made.

4. Corporate Performance Report: Quarter 4 2020/21  

The Head of Revenues & Benefits presented the Committee with an update against the 
Performance Management Framework, as introduced within the Council’s Corporate Plan, 
for Quarter 4 2020/21 (January to March 2021). 

The Head of Revenues & Benefits highlighted the following:

 PI 23 - Average processing time taken for Housing Benefit claims (days) – It was 
confirmed that at the end of Quarter 4 the average had been 12.4 days with the last 

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Performance and Administration Cabinet Committee 9.06.2021

2

year’s indicator being 12.8 days and the national and Kent averages being 17 days 
which was an excellent result. 

 PI 24 - Average processing time for changes of circumstance in Housing Benefit 
claims (days) – It was confirmed that at the end of Quarter 4 the average time taken 
had been 2.9 days with the previous year’s average being 4 days and the national 
and Kent averages being 6 days. The current processing time (at the end of May 
2021) for Housing Benefit claims was 14.2 days with the last year’s average being 
16.2 days. 

 In relation to Change of Circumstances, Members noted that at the end of May 2021 
the average time had been 7.3 days compared to May 2020 performance being 3.8 
days. The reason for the drop was attributed to the increase in the Government’s 
requirements around Full Claims Reviews. This equated to a further 45 claims per 
months having to be assessed which had had an adverse effect as had some minor 
resource issues. In response, officers had looked at ways to improve administrative 
processes, It had been discovered that the process could be made more efficient and 
was rectified which improved performance immediately.

 PI 26 – Total number of reported corporate complaints – At the end of Quarter 4 64 
complaints had been received which was slightly up on the previous quarter. 209 
complaints had been received in total over 2020/21 with 255 being received in 
2019/20. In relation to this Quarter’s complaints, 58 had been considered at Stage 1, 
four at Stage 2 and two at Stage 3 so the majority had been resolved at an early 
stage.

 PI 50 – Total number of people signed up to Citizens Access – At the end of Quarter 
4 8,594 customers had signed up which was a 19% increase on Quarter 3 and a 92% 
improvement since 2019/20 which was very encouraging. 

 PI 49 – Percentage of posts involved in shared service arrangements - The annual 
indicator had been static being 6.1% in 2019/20 and 6% in 2020/21. The Review of 
the Working Partnership Framework had been completed and had been considered 
by the Committee in March 2021 and had been adopted by Cabinet in June 2021.

The Head Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service highlighted the following:

 PI 55 – Percentage of internal audit recommendations implemented – The 
Committee was advised that this figure stood at 73.5% in Quarter 4 and 76.2% in 
Quarter 4 2019/20 so performance had been consistent.  There were only 13 
recommendations outstanding which was excellent given the additional pressures 
wrought by the pandemic. In addition, 95% of agreed assurance work had been 
delivered although some reports were still being finalised. Work on the 2021/22 Work 
Plan had commenced and a number of reviews were underway. Counter Fraud work 
had been affected by the pandemic and available resource had been directed to the 
National Fraud Initiative Exercises. A lot of this work had seen early results in 
2021/22 with cashable savings already higher than last year. Visiting for 
investigations had already recommenced with the easing of national restrictions and 
face to face interviews were also going to recommence as Government restrictions 
were relaxed. It was hoped that this would see results return to those seen in 
previous years.

The Information Governance Manager highlighted the following:

 PI 56 – Percentage of information requests completed within the statutory deadline – 
In Quarter 4, 86% of requests had been responded to within the deadline which was 
an increase of 2% on the same quarter in the previous year and a consistent average 

Page 4



Performance and Administration Cabinet Committee 9.06.2021

3

on the mid 80% was considered to be good performance. Work was being 
undertaken to improve policies including the training to all officers who handle 
Freedom of Information requests.

In relation to Council Tax and Business Rates Collection, the Head of Revenues & Benefits 
advised that collection of Council Tax had been measured at 94.5% was down 2% 
compared with the previous year, as was the national average.  There had been no court 
time allocated to the service during 2020/21 in respect of non-payment cases. Alternative 
repayment plans had been made with nearly 7,000 residents including deferred/extended 
payments.

Business Rates collection stood at 96.5% in Quarter 4 which was down 1.8%. However, the 
national average was down by 8% so the Borough Council had performed well. 

The officer advised that the Benefits Team measured the time it took to process claims but 
noted that the checks needed to be as accurate as possible. A new national indicator, the 
Housing Benefit Agency Award (HBAA) had placed the service for 2020/21 in the top quartile 
nationally. This showed that the service was not only assessing claims speedily but also 
accurately.

With regard to Discretionary Housing payments, these were very important to those 
financially affected by the pandemic and  £301,000 in grants had been allocated to the 
Council by the Government all but £943 had been allocated (99.7%) which had been used 
for this purpose.

The following points were raised during discussion on this item:

 PI 26 - Total number of reported corporate complaints – Whilst it was noted that most 
of the complaints received had been resolved in Stage 1 of the process, it was asked 
if there was a logistical issue especially in relation to the increase in complaints 
received in relation to Waste & Horticulture. The Head of Revenues & Benefits 
advised that Waste & Horticulture was not his service and that the number of 
complaints received by Revenues & Benefits had actually seen a reduction. 
However, the pandemic had caused many issues and he undertook to provide an 
answer.

 PI 26 – Total number of reported corporate complaints – The Head Audit & Counter 
Fraud Shared Service advised that fly tipping reports were unlikely to be included in 
the numbers for Waste & Horticulture complaints as they were a separate issue and 
also confirmed that he did not know the details of individual complaints. 

 PI 55 – Percentage of internal audit recommendations implemented – Members were 
advised that it was not the responsibility of the Head of Audit & Counter Fraud 
Shared Service to implement recommendations but simply to pursue implementation 
information from the responsible services.

 A question was raised regarding outstanding audit recommendations, specifically one 
regarding the new IT backup system. The Assistant Director (IT & Transformation) 
advised that this was a result of IT equipment supply chain issues and problems with 
external parties being able to visit the Civic Centre during the lockdowns in 2020. As 
a result there was a delay on the installation of the new systems and equipment. 
However, the new equipment has now been installed.

 Following a question on Discretionary Housing Payments, Members were advised 
that had been 35 applications as at 31 May 2021, 25 had been successful of which 3 
cases had involved helping customers with the spare room subsidy restrictions ad 14 

Page 5



Performance and Administration Cabinet Committee 9.06.2021

4

with the Local Housing Allowance restrictions. These were national restrictions i.e. 
not specifically imposed by the Council. The discretionary housing payment had been 
awarded in those particular cases to alleviate the financial ‘penalty’/restriction. 

 The Council Tax collection rates were a very good reflection of the support from the 
Local Authority and the Government.

 The Head of Revenues & Benefits advised that the Government in response to the 
pandemic, had introduced 14 different business grant schemes. However, a number 
of businesses had not been eligible under any of these schemes and had a rate 
liability. The variation of collection rates between local authorities was dependent 
upon the mix and size of businesses in the Borough. 

 Concern was expressed at the perceived increase in the number of people with 
disabilities due to the pandemic and that none of these vulnerable people should be 
missed. Head of Revenues & Benefits agreed and drew Members’ attention to the 
last item on the agenda. He also undertook to look at various schemes in Benefits 
and Council Tax reduction and to consult with relevant stakeholders and groups.

Officers were congratulated on the continuous improvement in the face of trying 
circumstances and the Chair thanked all for their hard work and Audit staff who supported 
other services during the pandemic.

Resolved that the report be noted.

5. Information Governance Annual Report 2020/21 

The Information Governance Manager noted that it was the first time this report had been 
submitted to the Committee and she requested Members’ views.

The following points were raised during discussion on this item:

 It was noted that a high number of cyber-security attacks had taken place nationally for 
example, at schools, the NHS in Ireland, and concern was expressed that local 
authorities could soon come under attack. The Assistant Director (IT & Transformation) 
confirmed that this was an issue that was not going away any time soon and he advised 
that he kept in regular contact with the National Cyber Security Centre. He confirmed 
that, as yet, there no intelligence on targeted attacks on local authorities but noted that 
anyone could be collateral damage.

 Following a request with regard to the Anonymisation and Pseudonymisation Policy, the 
Information Governance Manager advised that the policy gave guidance to officers in 
relation to the processing of data i.e. the improvement of services. Anonymisation was 
the information with all the personal data removed and pseudonymisation was with all 
the personal data replaced by IT Service, by keys which allowed the data to be traced 
back to the source.

 It was noted that the weakest link in relation to cyber security were individuals and 
officers were thanked for the Member training. The upscaling of the Communications 
Policy was also mentioned as well as ensuring that officers were using the policies. The 
Assistant Director (IT & Transformation) confirmed that training was now provided 
annually and the training of the full suite of policies was provided to new members of 
staff. There was also an updated module refresher for Members and officers including 
specific phishing awareness training.

 The Information Governance Manager referenced the diagram on page 20 of the report 
and noted that it was linked to the Information Governance Framework, which was 

Page 6



Performance and Administration Cabinet Committee 9.06.2021

5

available on the Council’s intranet, and advised that the information Asset owners were 
Assistant Directors and their Service Managers who were responsible for processing 
external suppliers.

 Following a question on remote working, Members were advised that IT Services 
ensured that all devices and systems were appropriately encrypted and the relevant 
policies were available on the intranet. Officers were regularly reminded to read the 
policies to keep themselves up to date and compliance with this requirement was 
checked. Page 23 of the report was referenced in relation to compliance with data 
incidences also being monitored and this information was used to improve processes 
and develop training,

 The Assistant Director IT & Transformation noted that the Council had always had the 
systems in place to allow for home working. However, the sheer increase in volume at 
very short notice had caused issues. Staff were being provided with the support and the 
knowledge to remain cyber secure.

Resolved that the report be noted.

6. Low Income Family Tracker (LIFT) Service 

The Head of Revenues & Benefits presented a report on the Low Income Family Tracker 
(LIFT) Project which had come about through joint working with Kent County Council, Kent 
district councils, Citizens Advice, the Kent Community Foundation and the Department of 
Works and Pensions (DWP). Six local authorities, including the Borough Council, had been 
selected to take part in a trial that would last for one year. The product used datasets to 
enable better decisions to be made. For example, on whether residents were in or would be 
in, financial crisis for one reason or another. The first project meeting had taken place and 
the three objectives were set out in paragraph 2.4 of the report.

Objective 1 – The officer noted that whilst it has been difficult to tie up the data into one 
system, this project would help the Council to make better informed strategic decisions not 
only for Revenues & Benefits but other services too.

Objective 2 – This would mean identifying households either in ‘financial crisis’ or potentially 
moving into potential crises and then engaging with individuals to see what they needed to 
avert the crises. For example, 133 residents had been identified who may be eligible for 
pension credit but had not taken it up for one reason or another. It was noted that this might 
have made a huge difference to their financial wellbeing during a crisis such as the 
pandemic. It would also enable individuals to access other benefits such as free TV licenses 
etc.

Objective 3 – In relation to the second bullet point, it was noted that only a finite amount of 
assistance was financially possible and the aim was to be more informed to be able to assist 
and support people appropriately sooner rather than later when they might need more 
assistance.

The following points were raised during discussion on this report:

 A question was asked on achieving the first objective without encroaching on an 
individual’s personal affairs. The Head of Revenues & Benefits advised that much of 
the data was already held by the Council in relation to claims for benefits and this 
would enable a picture to be created where data would be extracted which would 

Page 7



Performance and Administration Cabinet Committee 9.06.2021

6

contain an identifier that only the Council could unlock. The algorithm to achieve this 
was very complex and it was intended that at the next meeting of the Committee a 
demonstration of the Policy In Practice dashboards would be made.

 In addition, communication campaigns would be used using both social media and 
non-digital means, to encourage people who the Council could assist to come 
forward. If the Council was the first point of contact to vulnerable individuals, then 
their liability could be reduced.

 Following a question of people falling through the gaps, the officer confirmed that 
unfortunately, some people always would and this project was about trying to close 
those gaps. Once the information held by the Council was collated, areas the Council 
may wish to target may emerge. To this end mailshots and even door knocking could 
be used.

 The project was considered to be a potential game changer. However, a question 
was raised on whether the algorithm could stop unscrupulous people from using the 
data for their own advantage. Members were assured that as with existing benefit 
claims supporting evidence would be required in support of any claims. The system 
would also identify concerns and the officer would continue working with the DWP 
and audit to identify fraud and reduce risk.

 In relation to a lack of understanding by residents of the Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme, the officer agreed that a lot more could always be done and he was working 
to simplify the scheme for residents and officers to make it more transparent.

The Head of Revenues & Benefits was thanked for an enlightening report on the very 
interesting early stages of the projects.

Resolved that the report be noted.

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 8.30 pm

Page 8



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Performance & Administration Committee

Date: 23 September 2021

Reporting officer: James Larkin, Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared 
Service
Pat Knight, Head of Revenues & Benefits

Subject: Corporate Register of Partnership – July 2021

Purpose and summary of report: 
To inform Members of the Performance & Administration Committee of the council’s 
involvement in partnerships that are within the remit of the committee.

Recommendations:
This paper is for information only purposes.

1. Introduction

1.1 The council is increasingly working in partnership with local organisations, groups, 
other public, private and ‘third sector’ bodies to achieve its objectives for the local 
community.  This was further amplified during the council’s, and the community’s, 
response to the COVID pandemic.

1.2 The council has a Corporate Register of Partnerships and Shared Working 
Arrangements which provides a central record of partnerships in which the council 
is involved. The register is available on the council website and is reviewed and 
updated on an annual basis.

1.3 The register provides a general overview of the partnership, along with details of 
the main aims and objectives of the partnership and how the joint-working 
approach contributes and supports the delivery of council objectives.

2. Performance & Administration Committee

2.1 The current partnerships that most directly relate to the work of the Performance & 
Administration Committee are as follows:
2.1.1 Audit and Counter Fraud Shared Service
2.1.2 Revenues & Benefits Shared Management Arrangement

Page 9 Agenda Item 6



2

2.2 More detailed information regarding the partnerships above is shown at appendix 
two to enable the committee to develop an understanding of these partnerships 
and the contribution they make to delivering services to the community.

3. Background Papers

3.1 Background papers pertaining to this report are as follows:

 Report to Full Council – 22 June 2021 - Working in Partnership Framework – 
June 2021

 Corporate Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements – July 
2021 published on the council’s website - Corporate partnerships 
(gravesham.gov.uk)

3.2 Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be 
directed to Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary 
arrangements

Page 10

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/corporate-partnerships
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/corporate-partnerships


IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal There are no legal implications resulting from this report.  
As a requirement of the council’s Working in Partnership Framework, all potential 
partnership opportunities and shared working arrangements are formally 
considered by the Monitoring Officer to ensure that the legal aspects of proposals 
are taken into account prior to entering into a new arrangement.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

Partnerships and shared working arrangements can present financial and value for 
money savings to the council. The council’s Working in Partnership Framework 
requires all potential partnership opportunities and shared working arrangements to 
be formally considered by the Section 151 Officer to ensure that the financial 
aspects of all proposals are taken into account prior to entering into a new 
partnership.

Risk Assessment Partnership working is becoming more and more prevalent in the work of the 
council and is a key factor in the efficient and effective delivery of services and 
corporate objectives. It is therefore important that the council maintains 
comprehensive information regarding the partnerships it is involved in to enable 
effective consideration of partnership working arrangements as a contribution to the 
achievement of corporate objectives

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
No

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Partnership and shared working will potentially contribute to all of the strategic 
objectives of the council.  

Page 11

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


4

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Climate Change A specific section has been included within the partnership register to identify how 
partnerships contribute to the council's overall Climate Change commitment (if 
applicable).

Crime and Disorder There are no crime and disorder implications with this report.  

Digital and website 
implications

There are no digital and website implications with this report.  

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

A specific section has been included within the partnership register to identify how 
partnerships contribute to the council's overall Safeguarding commitment (if 
applicable).

Page 12



GRAVESHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL

Corporate Register of 
Partnerships and Shared 
Working Arrangements

July 2021

A summary of partnership and shared working 
arrangements 

Performance & 
Administration Portfolio

Appendix TwoPage 13



Gravesham Borough Council        - 2 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– July 2021

Introduction
The council maintains a comprehensive register of its partnerships and shared working arrangement that is 
reviewed on an annual basis.  

Partnerships
The council defines a partnership as “an agreement between the Council and one or more independent 
bodies to work together to achieve the council’s Corporate objectives”.

In addition to this, the council also splits the partnership register into ‘Significant’ and ‘Key other partnerships’.  
In order for a partnership to be classified as significant it must meet the following definition:

“A partnership for which there is a council resource provision of £50,000 or greater or one that is 
fundamental to the delivery of a corporate objective as established within the council’s Corporate Plan. 
Without this effective partnership therefore, the delivery of Gravesham Borough Council’s key 
corporate goals would not occur.  This will also include those partnerships that have been established 
to deliver legal or statutory requirements on behalf of the council.”

Shared Working Arrangements
In addition to partnership working, the council also has a number of shared working arrangements in place 
which range from a full-shared service with another local authority to shared manager/officer arrangements.  
The council is currently involved in the following shared working arrangements:

Page Ref. Name of Partnership
3 Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service
5 Revenues & Benefits Shared Management Arrangement

Glossary of Terms (Page 7)
Throughout the document, there are a number of terms that are used and it was felt that it would be useful to 
provide a ‘Glossary of Terms’ in order to provide further clarification of some of the terminology used within the 
document.

Page 14



Gravesham Borough Council        - 3 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– July 2021

Name of Partnership Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service

Responsible Officer Sarah Parfitt, Director (Corporate Services)

Lead Member(s) Councillor ,Narinderjit Singh Thandi  Lead Member for Performance and 
Administration

Statutory Status Local authorities statutorily required to have internal audit. 

Aims and objectives of 
partnership

The Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service was established on 1 March 
2016 to provide internal audit, counter Fraud and investigation services to 
Medway Council and Gravesham Borough Council. The work of the 
service for Gravesham is driven by an annual plan, agreed with the 
Finance & Audit Committee in March of each year. 
The vision of the service as set out in its Strategy, agreed with the Finance 
& Audit Committee in March 2018, is to “deliver high quality assurance, 
consultancy and counter fraud work to help ensure the authorities meet 
their objectives. We will act as a catalyst for driving positive change, 
promoting improvement, learning and innovation so that we can truly add 
value. By investing in our staff and working to raise our profile, we aim to 
become the default and respected advisor and critical friend at the heart of 
Medway Council and Gravesham Borough Council”.

Expected outcomes The Shared Service has achieved the following outcomes:
 Reduced cost of the Internal Audit and Counter Fraud Service to each 

council, taking into account any reductions in funding arising from the 
introduction of the Single Fraud Investigation Service.

 Increased resilience.
 Increased efficiency through adoption of best working practices and 

sharing of audit and fraud resources.
 Maximising the opportunities presented through sharing a large 

common boundary, and dealing with similar day-to-day issues.

Links to GBC Corporate 
Objectives

Objective #3 Progress
An entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to 
continuous service improvement, underpinned by a skilled workforce and 
strong governance environment.

GBC Resources
(financial, officer, assets etc)

As set out in the Shared Service agreement, approximately 36% of these 
resources are directed towards delivering the Audit & Counter Fraud Plan 
for Gravesham. 
The Shared Service agreement sets out the budgeted cost to Gravesham 
for 2021-22 as £209,667. 
The team occupy space in the Civic Centre, though all ICT hardware is 
provided by Medway Council. 

Partnership membership Gravesham Borough Council and Medway Council.

Governance arrangements The Shared Service Agreement in place sets out the governance of the 
service; 
 S151 responsibilities in relation to the provision of internal audit have 

been delegated from Gravesham to Medway. 
 Schedules set out scope of services, service standards, reporting 

requirements and financial contributions. 

Financial reporting 
arrangements and timeframe 
for reporting

Gravesham Borough Council is invoiced on a quarterly basis by Medway 
Council as host of the Shared Service. 
The expenditure budget for this arrangement is monitored through the 
council’s internal budget monitoring processes and reported via the 
established financial reporting arrangements.

Page 15



Gravesham Borough Council        - 4 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– July 2021

Performance monitoring 
arrangements and details of 
formal review of partnership 
arrangements.

The Shared Service has established a suite of performance measures and 
arrangements to report on the outputs and performance of the team to the 
council’s Management Team and Finance & Audit Committee on a 
quarterly basis.  
The council’s Annual Governance Review and Statement considers the 
effectiveness of internal audit arrangements.

Risk Assessment The Shared Service has a business plan and risk register in place for the 
delivery of its services. 

Safeguarding Obligations There are no direct safeguarding obligations for this service; however, the 
assurance activity undertaken by the service does look at various services 
and their management of their safeguarding obligations. 

Equalities Obligations There are no direct equalities obligations for this service; however both 
partners are committed to developing opportunities for inclusion and 
cohesion. 

Climate Change 
Considerations

Both Councils in the partnership have climate change objectives as part of 
their corporate plans. While the shared service does not directly contribute 
to these objectives and obligations, Internal Audit will be providing 
independent assurance over climate change projects and the work of 
services contributing to the objectives. 

Date Partnership 
Created / Approved 
by Cabinet

1 June 2015: Cabinet 
approval given for the 
partnership to become a full 
shared service.
1 March 2016: Shared 
Service launched.

Date Partnership 
Terminates
(if applicable)

N/A

Page 16



Gravesham Borough Council        - 5 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– July 2021

Name of Partnership Revenues & Benefits Shared Management Arrangement 

Responsible Officer Sarah Parfitt, Director (Corporate Services)

Lead Member(s) Councillor Narinderjit Singh Thandi, Lead Member for Performance and 
Administration

Statutory Status Non-statutory partnership

Aims and objectives of 
partnership

To jointly manage the Revenues & Benefits Teams of Gravesham 
Borough Council and Medway Council to provide savings while delivering 
an effective service.

Expected outcomes The key aim of the partnership is to provide a high quality, value for money 
service that improves benefits administration performance and maximises 
revenues collection rates whilst maintaining high levels of customer 
satisfaction.  
It is anticipated that the joint management arrangement will increase the 
resilience for the two authorities with opportunities for staff being able to 
assist at either authority should the need arise, and subject to the relevant 
approvals being sought at each site.  
Other benefits will be the ability to continually take the best practice 
arrangements from each council which should help to ensure the efficient 
delivery of a high quality service.

Links to GBC Corporate 
Objectives

Objective # 1 – People
A proud community; where residents call a safe, clean and attractive 
borough home.
Objective #3 Progress
An entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to 
continuous service improvement, underpinned by a skilled workforce and 
strong governance environment.

GBC Resources
(financial, officer, assets etc)

Gravesham Borough Council makes a regular payment to Medway 
Council, for the services of the Head of Revenues & Benefits and 
Revenues Manager employed by Medway Council.  These officers provide 
managerial support to the overall Revenues & Benefits Team and the 
specific Revenue team on a 50:50 basis.  The financial contribution for 
2020-21 was £73,180.
GBC Assets – whilst onsite at GBC, the Head of Revenues and Benefits 
and the Revenues Manager will utilise desk space, IT computer network 
and telephone resources.

Partnership membership Gravesham Borough Council and Medway Council

Governance arrangements A formal Shared Management Agreement is in place which sets out 
specific requirements of the arrangement including details of the job 
profiles and financial contributions to be made.  It also includes details of 
performance monitoring and dispute resolutions, should this occur.

Financial reporting 
arrangements and timeframe 
for reporting

The cost of the arrangement is included in the Shared Management 
Agreement; Gravesham Borough Council agrees to pay 50% of the cost of 
Medway Council employing Head of Revenues & Benefits and Revenues 
Manager.

Performance monitoring 
arrangements and details of 
formal review of partnership 
arrangements.

A Shared Management Agreement is in place to set the requirements for 
the joint-management arrangement and performance monitoring; although 
it is down to the responsible officers to implement a monitoring framework 
to meet the needs of the service. 
In addition, all shared working arrangements are kept under at least an 
annual review, with the results of these reviewed reported to the relevant 
Committee. 

Page 17



Gravesham Borough Council        - 6 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– July 2021

Risk Assessment Given that this is still a relatively new shared management arrangement, 
there remains the potential risk that the Revenues and Benefits Section 
may suffer some reduction in performance due to the Shared Managers 
not being on-site full time.  That being said the past year has seen benefit 
performance well above both National and Kent averages despite the 
Covid-19 pandemic. Revenues collection has reduced but again at a less 
rate then the National average. Officers are able to access GBC IT 
systems from Medway and staff are aware that they can be contacted at 
either authority. It is anticipated that this risk has been mitigate as far as 
possible at this time but will continue to be monitored. Monthly 
performance reports are circulated to management and Portfolio holder  to 
highlight any major areas of concern to enable action to be taken as 
necessary and quarterly performance management information is provided 
to Members.

Safeguarding Obligations N/A

Equalities Obligations The shared management arrangement, as a service provider incorporates 
its equalities obligations in all of its reports, processes and policies. It 
undertakes impact assessments for any changes to its services in 
accordance with Gravesham Borough Councils policies. Any identified 
negative impact in terms of the nine protected characteristics will be 
investigated fully to identify how these can be mitigated or managed. 
Complaints are closely monitored and used as a learning mechanism to 
ensure that decisions undertaken are fair to all customers. Any identified 
negative impact in terms of the nine protected characteristics is 
investigated fully to identify how these can be mitigated or managed. 

Climate Change 
Considerations

Both partnership member councils are committed to reducing the impact of 
Climate Change. Consequently, the shared management arrangement 
supports the council’s ambitions by providing advice/support on revenues 
and benefits policies (specifically discounts or incentives for council tax 
payers and rate payers) in support of Climate Change considerations.

Date Partnership 
Created / Approved 
by Cabinet

01 October 2019 Date Partnership 
Terminates
(if applicable)

N/A

Page 18



Gravesham Borough Council        - 7 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– July 2021

Glossary of Terms
To provide assistance to officers, Members and members of the public when reading the council’s 
Corporate Register of Partnerships, a Glossary of Terms has been developed to provide additional 
information about the meaning of some of the words included within the register.

Term Used Meaning

Annual Governance 
Review

This is a review that is undertaken each year in order to assess the council’s overall 
governance arrangements.

Audit & Counter 
Fraud Plan

The Audit & Counter Fraud Plan is a document which sets out the work plan for the 
team for the forthcoming financial year.

Business Plan A business plan is a formal statement of a set of business goals, the reasons they 
are believed attainable, and the plan for reaching those goals.

Corporate Plan A document which sets out Gravesham Borough Council’s corporate priorities for a 
period of years and provides details of the actions to be undertaken towards 
achieving those objectives.

Shared Service 
Agreement

This is a document which is signed by those authorities participating in a share 
service and sets out the governance arrangements fort the shared service.

Significant 
partnership

A partnership for which there is a council resource provision of £50,000 or greater or 
one that is fundamental to the delivery of a corporate objective as established within 
the council’s Corporate Plan. Without this effective partnership therefore, the 
delivery of Gravesham Borough Council’s key corporate goals would not occur.  This 
will also include those partnerships that have been established to deliver legal or 
statutory requirements on behalf of the council.

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Performance & Administration Committee

Date: 23 September 2021

Reporting officer: Pat Knight - Head of Revenues and Benefits

Subject: Corporate Performance Update: Quarter One 2021-22 

Purpose and summary of report: 
To present Members of the Performance & Administration Committee with an update against 
the Performance Management Framework, as introduced within the council’s Corporate Plan, 
for Quarter One 2021-22 (April to June 2021). 

Recommendations:
1. This report is for information purposes only.

1. Introduction

1.1 In October 2019 the council formally adopted its Corporate Plan for 2019-23. The 
plan sets out the council’s ambition for the borough, complete with a suite of 
corporate objectives and supporting policy commitments that will shape the 
council’s activities over the four year period.  

1.2 In order to evaluate if the council is effectively achieving against its stated policy 
commitments, and is ultimately delivering consistently high quality services, the 
council need to have a sound performance management process in place. 
Developed by senior council officers and Cabinet portfolio holders, the council’s 
Corporate Plan presents a Performance Management Framework (PMF) that 
forms the basis of reporting corporate performance to council Members and 
residents. 

Page 21 Agenda Item 7



2

2. Performance management: process

2.1 The effective management of the council relies upon good quality and timely 
performance information on which to base informed executive decisions. 

2.2 Appendix Two to this report provides Members of the Performance & 
Administration Committee with a statistical overview of the council’s performance 
against the Corporate Plan for Quarter One 2021-22, covering the period April to 
June 2021. 

2.3 Information on performance over the period is presented separately in tabular and 
graphical form for all indicators. Where any data is not presented, this will relate 
either to those indicators reported on an annual basis or, alternatively, where data 
has not been submitted in time for the presentation of the report. Any outturns 
where data has been unable to be reported will be presented within the next 
available reporting cycle.  

2.4 This report is for information purposes only.

3. Background papers

 Gravesham Borough Council: Corporate Plan 2019-23. 

 Gravesham Borough Council: Performance Management Framework 
2019-23. 

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 22



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal The council’s Corporate Plan is an integral part of the authority’s policy framework 
as defined by the Constitution. The Plan ensures the council has in place an 
effective framework to deliver its responsibilities and ensure better results for 
vulnerable local residents, with the assistance of relevant partner agencies. 

Finance and Value 
for Money 

There are no significant costs associated with the monitoring of the council’s 
Corporate Plan from which council activities should be based and which therefore 
should be accounted for as part of on-going financial planning processes.

Risk Assessment Implementation of a performance management framework allows the council to 
evidence how successful it is in achieving against its stated objectives and provides 
residents accountability in how successfully it is administering its resources.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
     

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The council’s adopted Corporate Plan sets the strategic ambition and objectives for 
the authority over the 2019-23 period. This report provides Cabinet with a quarterly 
assessment of how the council is delivering against its objectives through its 
performance management framework.

Climate Change Climate change as a strategic theme underpins the projects, initiatives and work 
involved in the delivery of the council's Corporate Plan. As a core policy 
commitment of the council, efforts in this area are represented within corporate 
objective #1: People.

Crime and Disorder Community safety is an integral theme of the Corporate Plan and work by the 
council in this area, alongside its key partners, will go towards delivering corporate 
objective #1: People.

Page 23

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


4

Digital and website 
implications

In terms of the council's performance management framework, digital implications 
are represented and assessed through the outturns relating to  'PI 51: online self-
help forms'.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

The council's work in safeguarding children and vulnerable adults helps contribute 
towards delivering corporate objectives #1: People and #2: Place.

Page 24



Gravesham Borough Council - Corporate Plan 2019-23 00Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

P E R F O R M A N C E  &  A D M I N
P O R T F O L I O

Performance   report 
Q  1  :  2  0  2  1  -  2  2

Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

P
age 25



P I  23

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 12.6 12.7 12.2 12.8

2020-21 15.9 13.8 12.8 12.4

2021-22 14.1

2022-23

P I  24 Average processing time for changes of circumstance in Housing Benefit claims (days)

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 5.2 4.9 4.8 4.0

2020-21 3.6 3.3 3.4 2.9

2021-22 6.8

2022-23

#1 PEOPLE 
a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and 

attractive borough their home.

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

1. Put our customers first: implement a suite of quality and effective frontline services

accessible to all.

Revenues & Benefits update - Pat Knight

Average processing time taken for Housing Benefit claims (days)The first quarter has seen the benefit service facing resourcing pressures in dealing with both new 

and continued Covid-19 measures such as the payment of Test and Trace Self-Isolation Grants 

and application of council tax hardship payments for working age claimants. Additional resourcing 

pressures have also occurred with new requirements concerning full case reviews and key 

projects such as the low income family tracker. Whilst new claims are an improvement on Q1 

2020-21; change of circumstances performance has been negatively affected.This is despite 

continued service automation. 

- PI 23 Average Processing time for housing benefit claims. At 14.1 days, this represents an

improvement to the previous year Q1 performance of 15.9 days (which resulted in an outturn of

12.4 days).

- PI 24 Average processing time to assess changes of circumstances for housing benefit claims.

At 6.8 days, this compares to the previous year Q1 performance of 3.6 days (which resulted in an

outturn of 2.4 days). The latest available performance figures for the month of June are showing

an improvement at 5.4 days.

5

10

15

20

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

2

4

6

8

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

P
age 26



P I   26 Total number of reported corporate complaints

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 73 82 44 56

2020-21 41 52 52 64

2021-22 83

2022-23

2. Put our customers first: implement a suite of quality and effective frontline services

accessible to all.

PI 26: During Q1 there were 83 Complaints compared to 64 in the previous Q4. There were 76 

Stage 1, 4 Stage 2 and 3 Stage 3, with 59 of the cases meeting the 15 day response deadline 

(71%). Complaints were spread across a number of services as set out below:

#1 PEOPLE 
a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and 

attractive borough their home.P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

Corporate Complaints update - Simon Walsh

40

60

80

100

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

P
age 27



P I  50 Total number of people signed up to citizens access

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 103 1,519 2,757 4,484

2020-21 5,453 6,328 7,211 8,594

2021-22 9,811

2022-23

#3 PROGRESS
an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to continuous service 

improvement, underpinned by a skilled workforce and strong governance environment.

0

4,000

8,000

12,000

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22 P
age 28



P I  49 % of posts involved in shared service arrangements

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 6.1%

2020-21 6.0%

2021-22

2022-23

Annual indicator

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

1. Deliver a more resilient, creative and cost-effective council: implement a programme of

‘continuous change’, overhauling business processes and delivering new, innovative service

design.

an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to continuous service 
improvement, underpinned by a skilled workforce and strong governance environment.

#3 PROGRESS

The new Working in Partnership Framework was adopted by Full Council in June 2021 and 

provides a framework for establishing partnership and shared working arrangements for the 

council moving forward. Key amendments to the framework include consideration of both equality 

and climate change objectives in any new working arrangements.

The LGA Peer Challenge follow-up review was completed in March 2021 with the final report 

issued in June 2021.  The final report and a revised action plan with be presented to Cabinet in 

September 2021 for consideration.

0%

5%

10%

15%

2019-20 2020-21

P
age 29



P I  55 % of internal audit recommendations implemented

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 70.6% 75.0% 73.1% 76.2%

2020-21 62.5% 67.7% 62.5% 73.5%

2021-22 37.5%

2022-23

Investigation activity during 2021-22 was initially limited to desktop enquiries due to the coronavirus 

restrictions, however, home visits did recommence, and the interview facilities now have barriers to 

make them covid secure and allow interviews to take place when necessary. 

Investigation activity during the year to date has led to the following;

• Additional council tax (historic liability) of £89,431.84.

• Additional council tax liability of £39,368.16 for future years.

• Civil penalties totalling £1,120.00

• Housing Benefit overpayments of £2,913.65

The Counter Fraud Assistant retired on 30 April and will be replaced 

with a second Counter Fraud Intelligence Analyst to help target the 

increasing volume of data matching activity. 

2. Drive service improvement and corporate governance: a robust and benchmarked

performance management framework, delivered by services underpinned with sound internal

controls.

Internal Audit update - James Larkin 

an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to continuous service 
improvement, underpinned by a skilled workforce and strong governance environment.

During the first Quarter, the team has been busy finalising reports for the remaining 2020-21 audit 

reviews, with only three to be finalised as of 30 June. Good progress has been made in relation to 

the 2021-22 plan with a number of audits already having reached quality control and as of 30 

June, 13% of the agreed assurance reviews had been delivered (audit fieldwork completed), with a 

further 13% underway. This is broadly in line with where we expected to be at this point in the year 

following the disruptions during 2019-20 and 2020-21.

An Internal Audit Team Leader left on 30 June 2021 and we are currently reviewing the structure 

with a view to potentially replace this post with a Senior Internal Auditor, which would create more 

operational resource while saving on salary costs.

The Internal Audit team also has a performance indicator relating to the implementation of agreed 

recommendations. At the end of quarter four 2020-21, it was reported that 13 recommendations 

remained outstanding. Of those, the following recommendations have now been implemented;

• Guidance relating to tenancy enforcement actions being created and shared with staff.

• Equality, Diversity & Safeguarding training for officers dealing with unauthorised encampments.

• Arrangements for checks to be undertaken of all payments to and from the Apprenticeship

Service Account to ensure accuracy.

A cumulative total of 16 recommendations were due to be implemented by the end of Q1 and as of 

30 June 2021, 10 of these remained outstanding. Outstanding recommendations relate to:

• Investigating a scheme working with private landlords to help prevent homelessness,

• Agreements being put in place for all enforcement services,

• Reviewing procedures for the regular testing of IT back-up arrangements,

• A review of the information relating to Flexi, TOIL and overtime on the intranet,

• Managers being reminded of their responsibilities in relation to Flexi, TOIL and overtime,

• The creation of a council overtime policy document,

• Service managers being reminded of overtime rates, including guidelines for part time staff and

working time directives,

• A strategy document for the council’s apprenticeship scheme,

• A process being put in place to ensure ensure that apprenticeships are promoted and considered

at the earliest stage of recruitment, and

• A review of the apprenticeship policy.

Progress made towards implementing outstanding recommendations is monitored on a quarterly 

basis, through reports to the council’s Management Team. Details of all recommendations agreed, 

implemented and outstanding are provided to the council’s Finance & Audit Committee as part of 

the quarterly and annual A&CF update reports. All recommendations that remain outstanding more 

than six months after their agreed implementation date are now specifically highlighted with 

updates from the relevant services provided.

Counter Fraud update - James Larkin 

#3 PROGRESS
P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

25%

50%

75%

100%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22 P
age 30



P I  56 % of information requests completed within statutory deadline

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 86% 86% 86% 84%

2020-21 83% 88% 84% 86%

2021-22 84%

2022-23

an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to continuous service 
improvement, underpinned by a skilled workforce and strong governance environment.

#3 PROGRESS

During the first quarter of 2021/22 the Information Governance Team has been busy preparing 

2020/21 Q4 and year end reports for management. 

During Q1 2021/22, the council has remained consistent in its handling of requests for information 

under Freedom of Information Act and Environmental Information Regs. with 84% of requests 

receiving a response within the statutory deadline of 20 working days, even with a 42% increase in 

the number of requests received compared to Q1 2020/21.

The Information Governance Manager reported to the Performance and Administration Committee 

in June 2021 that information governance policies are scheduled to be reviewed regularly. In Q1 

the councils Data Protection, Information Sharing and Anonymisation and Pseudonymisation 

Policies were all reviewed and presented to Management Team for approval. 

Also discussed were the plans for ensuring the council’s adherence to the Freedom of Information 

Act requirement to adopt a Publication Scheme. This project has progressed well through Q1 and, 

working closely with the Digital Team, we are soon to publish a webpage dedicated to the 

Publication Scheme. This will provide the public with links to datasets which the council is obliged 

to publish and, in some cases, additional data which is published to enhance transparency.

The council has recently purchased a Cyber Security Training package which includes modules for 

Data Protection training. Working with IT, we are planning the rollout of this training to all council 

staff and Members to ensure the council’s resilience in the area of data security remains robust.

Annual Governance Statement: As per the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, the council has 

a statutory responsibility to undertake an annual review of the authority’s governance framework 

and system of internal control. The review for 2020-21 was undertaken in Q1 and was conducted 

by the Corporate Performance Manager, in full consultation with the council’s AGS Assurance 

Group, in accordance with the principles adopted by the authority’s Code of Corporate 

Governance. The key conclusion to the annual review process for the year ended 31 March 2021 

was that the council’s governance arrangements are considered to be fit for purpose and in 

accordance with the authority’s governance framework, with no significant areas of concern. 

The findings of the review form the foundation of the council's Annual Governance Statement 

(AGS). The AGS was itself presented to the Corporate Management Team in Q1 and 

subsequently to the F&A Committee in July 2021 for adoption.

4. Successfully manage key business risks: embed a culture of compliance with all policy,

constitutional and legislative demands.

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

70%

80%

90%

100%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

P
age 31



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Classification:   Public
Key Decision:    No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Performance & Administration Cabinet Committee

Date: 23 September 2021

Reporting officer: James Larkin, Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared 
Service (Chief Audit Executive)

Subject: Annual review of the Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service

Purpose and summary of report: 
To provide Members of the Performance & Administration Committee with a copy of the 
annual review that has been conducted in respect of the Audit & Counter Fraud shared 
service with Medway Council.

Recommendations:
1. None - this paper is for information purposes only

1. Introduction

1.1 Since December 2015, the council has had in place a shared service with 
Medway Council for the delivery of the Audit & Counter Fraud service.  This 
involved the transfer of all Gravesham Borough Council (GBC) staff who were 
employed within Internal Audit and Fraud at GBC to Medway Council.

1.2 The Audit and Counter Fraud team underwent a restructure in February 2016 
(which took effect from 1 March 2016), to take account of the changes to the 
delivery of fraud service brought about from the introduction of the Single Fraud 
Investigation Service (SFIS).

1.3 As such, the current Audit & Counter Fraud team have been operational in their 
current format for just over five years (at the time of the review).

2. Annual Review

2.1 As per the council’s Working in Partnership Framework (which was adopted by 
Council on 22 June 2021), the annual review of the Audit & Counter Fraud 
arrangement was undertaken in July/August 2021 and reported to the Gravesham 
Borough Council Management Team accordingly.

Page 33 Agenda Item 8



2

2.2 The revised Working in Partnership Framework introduced a new review 
document for Shared Services that have been operational for three years or more, 
to ensure that focus is on current working practices and procedures rather than 
looking back at objectives that were set during the arrangements inception.

2.3 As such, the review of the Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service uses the new 
review template; a copy of the final review document is attached at appendix two 
for Member perusal.

2.4 Members will note that the first of the four recommendations for the coming year is 
to review the overall objectives for the service as the objectives set as part of the 
creation of the service are no longer relevant or key to determining the success of 
the service moving forward.

2.5 A report will be presented to this Committee in February 2022, outlining the new 
overall service objectives before providing an update on progress against those 
new objectives in the next annual review.

3. BACKGROUND PAPERS

3.1 Background papers pertaining to this report are as follows:

 “Proposed development of a fully shared Internal Audit and Fraud Service with 
Medway Council” – report to Cabinet – 07 September 2015

 “Working in Partnership Framework – June 2021” – report to Full Council – 22 
June 2021

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be 
directed to Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary 
arrangements.

Page 34



IMPLICATIONS            APPENDIX 1

Legal The Accounts & Audit Regulations 2011 require a relevant body to “undertake an 
adequate and effective internal audit of its accounting records and of its system of 
internal control in accordance with the proper practices in relation to internal 
control.”  Proper practice has been defined as that contained within the Public 
Sector Internal Audit Standards and the CIPFA Local Government Application Note 
to the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards.
The Local Government Act 1972 provides the Council with the ability to investigate 
and prosecute offences committed against them.
Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 requires the council to “make 
arrangements for the proper administration of their financial affairs”.
Finally, the shared service arrangement has been established with due regard to 
Section 113 of the Local Government Act 1972, which allows a local authority to 
place any of its officers, who consent to the arrangement, at the disposal of another 
local authority on such terms as may be agreed between the parties.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

In respect of the 2021/22 financial year, the payment to Medway Council for the 
provision of Audit and Counter Fraud services is budgeted as £215,980 which is an 
increase in the sum paid in the previous financial year (£208,824 in 2020-21).

Risk Assessment The risks associated with this arrangement are considered to be ‘low’ at this time.  
The annual review and the annual performance reports has shown that the service 
is meeting and in some cases, exceeding its objectives.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
N/A

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Page 35

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


4

IMPLICATIONS            APPENDIX 1

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The work of the Audit & Counter Fraud team contributes to the overall internal 
control and governance arrangements of the council, therefore supporting all of the 
objectives set out within the Corporate Plan.
Specifically, the delivery of a shared service contributes to objective #3 – Progress.

Climate Change There are no climate change implications resulting from this report.

Crime and Disorder Internal Audit provides an independent and objective opinion to the organisation on 
the control environment, by evaluating its effectiveness in achieving the 
organisations’ objectives.  The work of Internal Audit combined with a sound 
internal control environment has a positive contribution to community safety in its 
broadest sense.
The counter fraud arrangements of the council acknowledge that the council can be 
exposed to fraud and are intended to, as far as possible, prevent fraud occurring 
and pursue criminal action if needed when fraud is detected.  Working with partners 
to combat crime and disorder has a positive contribution to community safety in its 
broadest sense.

Digital and website 
implications

There are no digital or website implications resulting from this report.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no safeguarding children and vulnerable adults implications resulting 
from this report.

Page 36



                    

Shared Service: Audit & Counter Fraud

Shared service commenced: December 2015

Author: Sarah Parfitt, Director (Corporate 
Services) at Gravesham Borough 
Council and Phil Watts, Chief 
Financial Officer at Medway 
Council

Review Date: July 2021

Overview of the shared service arrangement:

A summary of the structure of the shared service and the services provided.  Include any 
details of changes that have taken place with regards to the shared service in the past 12 
months.

The Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service was established in December 2015, with a 
Shared Service Agreement setting out the basis for splitting the available resources 
between the two councils as approximately 64% for Medway and 36% for Gravesham.
The main driver behind this arrangement was to respond to cuts in government funding 
associated with the creation of the Single Fraud Investigation Service (SFIS) within the 
Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) and ensure that there was resource available 
to meet the requirements of the associated SLA’s for local authorities to provide housing 
benefit related information to SFIS officers investigating housing benefit claims.
These objectives were achieved with the creation of the service delivering savings to both 
Medway and Gravesham in excess of the funding cuts and the service continually 
exceeding the minimum requirements under the SLA’s.  
At the start of 2020-21 the shared service was made up of the Head of Internal Audit & 
Counter Fraud, three Audit & Counter Fraud Team Leaders, eight Audit & Counter Fraud 
Officers (7.64FTE), one Audit & Counter Fraud Intelligence Analyst and one Audit & 
Counter Fraud Assistant.  
Since inception, the service has had an establishment of 14 officers, who were in multi-
disciplinary roles. During the first three years of the shared service, it became apparent 
that officers were experiencing difficulties trying to manage both audit and investigation 

Page 37



2 | P a g e

activity, due to the conflicting priorities and deadlines and the difference in the skillsets 
required for each role.  
In 2019-20, officers were trialled in designated roles, as either Internal Auditors or Counter 
Fraud Officers, to establish whether this would lead to an improvement in service delivery 
and resulted in targets being met for internal audit activity and the highest levels of fraud 
savings for both councils since the creation of the shared service.
Following this trial, it was decided to make the designated roles permanent and following a 
delay caused by the Covid 19 pandemic, officers moved into these roles with effect from 
01 April 2021.
The retirement of the Team’s Counter Fraud Assistant in April 2021 also gave the 
opportunity to look at the structure of the service to determine whether the role was still 
the most suitable for the work being undertaken. It was determined that it would be more 
beneficial for the service to have a second Intelligence Analyst, which would increase the 
resource available for direct counter fraud activity while still being able to maintain the 
SPOC function for DWP.
These changes mean that at the time of conducting the review, the service is made up of 
the Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud, two Internal Audit Team Leaders, six Internal 
Auditors (5.78FTE), one Counter Fraud Team Leader, two Counter Fraud Officers, and 
two Counter Fraud Intelligence Analysts (one post currently vacant).

Progress against objectives:

Objective Update

1 Deliver the statutory internal audit function During 2020-21 the teams 
operated to revised 
workplans to reflect the 
prioritisation of resources to 
essential services and the 
response to the Covid 19 
pandemic at each authority.  
For part of the year, audit 
resources were deployed to 
emergency 
planning/assurance and 
control activity. The level of 
assurance work delivered to 
each authority was 
maintained to a sufficient 
level to enable the Head of 
Internal Audit & Counter 
Fraud, in their role of Chief 
Audit Executive to provide, 
an opinion on the control 
environment of each 
authority as required at the 
end of the financial year.

Page 38



3 | P a g e

2 Deliver an effective counter fraud and investigation 
service.

Ongoing national restrictions 
and redeployment of staff 
had significant impact on 
counter fraud activity during 
the year but we were still 
able to deliver a partial 
service that delivered 
savings, which are detailed 
later in this document.

3 Provide a Single Point of Contact (SPOC) for the 
Department for Works and Pensions (DWP) for their 
investigation of Housing Benefit Fraud

DWP fraud investigation has 
been extremely limited 
during the last twelve 
months but excellent service 
has been maintained where 
required.

4 Deliver a reduction in the cost of service delivery to 
mitigate the reduction in funding from the DWP as a 
result of the introduction of the Single Fraud 
Investigation service (SFIS)

The cost of the service has 
increased year on year due 
to national salary increases 
but analysis shows that this 
still delivers a saving against 
the previous services when 
applying those same 
increases to the 2015-16 
baseline budgets as a 
comparison.

5 Provide increased resilience and flexibility to meet 
the needs of both councils.

Although the officers have 
returned to designated 
roles, the flexibility to meet 
the needs of both councils 
has been demonstrated 
throughout the pandemic 
with officers from both audit 
and counter fraud 
supporting other critical 
services across both 
councils as and when 
required.

Key Performance Measures:

Target 2020/21 Outturn 2020-21

1 Proportion of agreed assurance 
assignments delivered (plan completion) 95%

Gravesham 95%
Medway 82%*

2 Proportion of recommended actions agreed 
by client management

90% Gravesham 100%
Medway 100%

Page 39



4 | P a g e

3 Proportion of recommended actions 
implemented by agreed date

N/A
(outside of 

service control)

Gravesham 74%
Medway 86%

4 Value of fraud losses identified N/A Gravesham 
£358,935

Medway £245,115

*Decisions made in year by Medway’s Corporate Management Team to redirect further 
resource to assist with Alternative Restrictions Grant applications were made in the 
knowledge that this would impact on the service’s ability to meet plan delivery targets. 

Update against recommendations identified in previous year 
review:

Objective Update

1 Officers to return to designated roles as 
part of a multi-disciplinary service rather 
than multi-disciplinary officers

All staff moved into designated roles with 
effect from 01 April 2021.

2 Invest in additional resource in the form 
of a second intelligence Analyst (fixed 
term contract) to deal with the increased 
data matching.

The retirement of the counter fraud 
assistant enabled a minor restructure of 
the service, which resulted in the post 
being replaced by a second Intelligence 
Analyst. We were able to do this without 
increasing the budget and are 
comfortable that the former assistant 
duties can be shared between the two 
analysts. 

Recommendations/Service Improvements for the coming year:

1 Review and reset service objectives as current objectives three and four are no 
longer relevant.

2 Review what determines the effectiveness of the counter fraud function to establish 
a basis for better assessment against the objective.

3 Analysis of the benefits being brought to the service by investment in professional 
training.

4 Review performance data to establish whether the introduction of an additional 
Counter Fraud Intelligence Analyst has led to service improvements

Page 40


	Agenda
	2 To sign the minutes of the previous meeting
	6 Corporate Register of Partnerships - Extract for P&A Cabinet Committee
	2. Appendix 2 -Register of Partnerships - JULY 2021 - P&A

	7 Corporate Performance Report: Q1 2021-22
	Performance & Administration Committee - Q1 2021-22 (Appendix 2)

	8 Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service Review
	Appendix 2 - ACF Shared Service Annual Review 2021




